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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
AT CHATTANOOGA

MICKEL G. HOBACK

Plaintiff,
Case No. 1:10-CV-74
V.
Chief Judge Curtis L. Collier
CITY OF CHATTANOOGA

Defendant.

N

MEMORANDUM

Before the Court is Defendant City of &tanooga’s (“City”) motion for judgment as a
matter of law under Rule 50(b) of the Federal RulgSiwi Procedure, or, in the alternative, a new
trial under Rule 59 (Court File N@4). The City also sought a new trial on damages for back pay,
front pay, and emotional distress, or in the alternative remitiddr (Plaintiff Mickel Hoback
(“Plaintiff”) responded to the City’s motion (Courii€&No. 78), and the City replied to Plaintiff's
response (Court File No. 79). For the reasons discussed below, the CoDEMMIthe City’s
motion for judgment as a matter of law or a new tERANT IN PART AND DENY IN PART
the City’s motion to remit the jury’s award of back pay, BEANY the City’s motion for a new trial
for back pay, front pay, and emotional distress] for remittitur as to front pay and emotional
distress (Court File No. 74).

l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff was hired as a police officer by tBaattanooga Police Department (“CPD”) on July
21, 2000. In 2002, Plaintiff took a bfieave from the CPD to entbasic training for the United
States Army. Following basicdining, Plaintiff returned to twnCPD until June 22, 2004, when his

National Guard unit was activatethd deployed to Irag. Plaintiff served in Iraq until being
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honorably discharged on November 27, 2005. br&ary, 2006 Plaintiff resumed his duties as a
CPD police officer.

At some point after returning from Iraq, Plaffwas diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress
Disorder (“PTSD”). Plaintiff received counsgdiand treatment, including psychotropic medication,
from the Veterans Administration (“VA”). Ofpril 13, 2009, Plaintiff met with Dr. Estella Acosta
of the VA. During the course of the meeting, Dr. Acosta became concerned that Plaintiff was
suicidal and dangerous. She filled out a Ge#te of Need for Involuntary Commitment, which
stated Plaintiff was “depressed and despondent ared shait he is feeling suicidal,” and further said
“[Plaintiff] indicated using a gun although he stthe does not own a gun.” Plaintiff was not
involuntarily committed, however; apparently hgpkd out the back door of the clinic while Dr.
Acosta was making arrangements for his committal.

After leaving the VA clinic, Plaintiff drovéasimself to the VA hospital in Murfreesboro,
Tennessee and checked himself in. He was degrnight, and released the next day. The CPD
became aware of the attempted involuntary commitiwfdlaintiff on April14, 2009. On that date,
the Bradley County Sheriff's Department called CPD to inform CPD it was attempting to serve
emergency committal papers on Plaintiff, and to@BD’s help in locating Plaintiff. After some
investigation, CPD discovered Plaintiff had alreallgcked himself into the VA hospital. Also on
April 14, 2009, Freeman Cooper, CPD Chief of Poleete a letter relievig Plaintiff from duty,
and placing him on administrative leave. The tefitether stated Plaintiff would be required to
complete a “fitness for duty” psychological examination.

In April and May, 2009, Donald L. Brookshiresy.D., met with Plaintiff several times to

conduct the fitness for duty psychological examonatiln a seven-page, single-spaced report, Dr.



Brookshire concluded Plaintiff wésot psychologically fit to safelperform the duties as a police
officer.” Following this evaluation, Plaintiff wasltbhe needed to either apply for another position
with the City, or file for Fanly Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) benefits. Plaintiff did neither.
Subsequently, Plaintiff requested a second evaluag performed by anothasychologist. In June
and July, 2009, Plaintiff was evaluated by TerreIM¢Daniel, Ph.D. Dr. McDaniel’s report, while
acknowledging Dr. Brookshire’s conclusion may hagerbjustified at the time, concluded Plaintiff
was now fit for duty as a police officer. Howevire report advised that “adequately monitoring
Mr. Hoback’s behavior and mental health statilsbe essential but difficult,” and recommended
he be placed in “a position that provides acceptaktddef monitoring at the beginning of his re-
engagement,” and continue receiving intensaugnseling and psychological monitoring for at least
90 days.

On July 21, 2009, after Plaintiff had exhausted all his personal leave time, Chief Cooper
terminated Plaintiff's employment with the CPRAsed on Dr. Brookshire’s determination Plaintiff
was not fit for duty. Chief Coopelid not significantly rely upo®r. McDaniel's report, because
he viewed its conditions regarding the needttinue actively monitoring Plaintiff as belying the
formal conclusion that Plaintiff was now fit for gutHe was, however, made aware of its contents
(Court File No. 75-2, Cooper Test., p. 16). Follogvhis termination, Plaintiff exercised his right
to appeal to a panel of the Chattanooga Cibyncil. After a heang on November 9, 2009, his
termination was upheld by a 2-1 vote.

On April 12, 2010, Plaintiff filed suit in thisourt alleging claims under the Americans with
Disabilities Act,42 U.S.C. 88 1210kt seq(“ADA"); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C.

88 701et seq(“Rehabilitation Act”); and 42 U.S.C. 883 (Court File No. 1)JUpon leave of the



Court (Court File No. 16), Plaintiff amended ltomplaint to remove the § 1983 claim and add a
claim under the Uniform Services Employmantl Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA),
38 U.S.C. § 4301-4335, and its attendant regulatior) C.F.R. § 1002. Rintiff then filed a
motion for summary judgment on his claims (Court File No. 25), and a supplemental motion for
summary judgment (Court File No. 31). ThéayQesponded with its own motion for partial
summary judgment as to the USERRA claino@@ File No. 29). The Court denied both of
Plaintiff's motions but granted the City’s §Grt File No. 47). On September 9, 2011, the case
proceeded to trial on Plaintiff's remaining claimseTjary returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiff
on September 15, 2011, awarding him $130,00&ak pay, $300,000 in front pay, and $250,000
for emotional distress for a total award of $680,000CFile No. 63). The City filed this motion
for judgment as a matter of law or for a neslton October 13, 2011, objecting to the verdict and
the computation of damages (Court File No. 74).
. LEGAL STANDARDS

Rule 50 of the Federal Rules of Civil Proceslstates “if a party has been fully heard on an
issue during a jury trial and the]irt finds [] a reasonable juryould not have a legally sufficient
evidentiary basis to find for the party on [the] ssthe [Clourt may: (akesolve the issue against
the party; and (b) grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law against the party on a claim or
defense that, under the controlling law, can be taaiad or defeated only with a favorable finding
on [the] issue.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1). If ®eurt denies the Rule 50(a) motion and submits the
action to the jury, the party may renew the motiader Rule 50(b) after the entry of judgment. In

considering the renewed motion, the “[Clourtasreview all evidence and draw all reasonable

inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, without making credibility



determinations or weighing the evidenceJ6nes v. Nissan North America, 438 Fed. Appx.
388, 398 (6th Cir. 2011) (quotirkackson v. FedEx Corporate Servs., 118d.8 F.3d 388 (6th Cir.
2008)). Therefore, in order forelCity to succeed, it must show “no reasonable juror could have
found for the nonmoving partyMoore v. KUKA Welding Sys. & Robot Cqrpr1 F.3d 1073, 1078
(6th Cir. 1999).

In the alternative, the City oves the Court for a new trial pursuant to Rule 59 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. Under Rule 59, the Court may grant a new trial only “when a jury has
reached a ‘seriously erroneous result as eviddng€t) the verdict being against the weight of the
evidence; (2) the damages being excessive; th€3yial being unfair to the moving party in some
fashion.” Mike’s Train House, Inc. v. Lionel, LL@72 F.3d 398, 405 (6th Cir. 2006) (quoting
Holmes v. City of Massillgr’8 F.3d 1041, 1045-46 (6th Cir. 1996)). The Court, however, “[is] not
free to reweigh the evidence or set aside thejarglict merely because the jury could have drawn
different inferences or conclusion®8Barnes v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Cqrp01 F.3d 815, 821
(6th Cir. 2000) (referencinuncan v. Duncan377 F.2d 49, 52 (6th Cir. 1967)). A court should
not grant a new trial on the grounds the verdict is against the weight of the evidence “unless the
verdict was unreasonable”; that is, “if a reasonabiler could reach the challenged verdict, a new
trial is improper.” Id. at 820-21 (quotations omittedgenhof v. City of Grand Rapid494 F.3d
534, 543 (6th Cir. 2007) (“[T]his court will overturn a grant of a motion for a new trial on the basis
that the verdict was against the weight of thigl@vce where it is cleardhthe jury verdict was
reasonable.”).

Although both standards discuss the reasonableness of a jury verdict, the standard for

granting a new trial is less stringent than the standard for granting a judgment as a matter of law.



Denhof 494 F.3d at 543(“[G]ranting a judgment as dteraf law is governed by a higher showing
[than granting a new trial].”). Judgment as a miaifdaw requires “no legally sufficient basis for
a reasonable jury to find for thadrty on that issue,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a), whereas a new trial may
be granted where the verdict is “cleaalgainst the weight of the evidencB&nhof 494 F.3d at
543. Therefore, where the Court determines the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable jury to
grant the challenged verdict, it is speaking of the lower standard for granting a new trial. By
necessity, evidence sufficient to withstand a neav thallenge will be sufficient to withstand a
motion for judgment as a matter of lawd. (reversing a district court’s grant of a judgment as a
matter of law and alternative gtasf a new trial, but focusing only on the motion for a new trial,
because “[by] extension, this analysis applie®t@rse the judgment as a matter of law as well”).
1. DISCUSSION

The City argues the evidence at trial demaitses no reasonable jury could have determined
(1) the City regarded Plaintiff as disabled agtriminated against him (Court File No. 75, p. 6);
or (2) Plaintiff was a qualified individual who could perform the essential functions of a police
officer (Court File No. 75, p. 14-15). While the Colimds the City’s arguments to be nonfrivolous,
the Court concludes a reasonable jury could masehed the verdiceached, and therefore the
City’s motion for judgment as a matter of law and for a new trial must be denied.

A. ADA Claim

Under the ADA, an employer may not “discriminate against a qualified individual with a
disability.” 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a). Phiff had the burden at trial forove he was disabled and he
was a qualified individuaKleiber v. Honda of Am. Mfg485 F.3d 862, 869 (6th Cir. 2007). An

individual is “disabled” under the ADA if he hdéA) a physical or mental impairment that



substantially limits one or more major life adties of such individual; (B) a record of such an
impairment; or (C) [is] regarded as having sacimpairment.” 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1). Under the
“regarded as” prong in (C), an individual must only show he was regarded as having a perceived
impairment, and does not need to prove his perceived impairment would substantially limit a major
life activity. Id. § 12102(3)(A): A “qualified individual” is “an individual with a disability who,
with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of [the] employment
position.” 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8). Such reasonableracoadations include “job restructuring, part-
time or modified work schedules, reassignment to a vacant position, . . . and other similar
accommodationstd. 8§ 12111(9)(B). However, an individuaho is only “regarded as” disabled
must be able to perform the essential fuorddiof the job without reasonable accommodation. 42
U.S.C. § 12201(h) (“A covered entity . . . neexd provide a reasonable accommodation . . . to an
individual who meets the definition of disabilitysection 12102(a) . . . solely under subparagraph
(C) of such section.”).
1. Disability
The City argues the evidenceepented at trial was insufficient for a reasonable jury to

conclude the City regarded Plaintiff as disalded discriminated against him (Court File No. 75,

! This is a recent change that was made to the ADA as a part of the Americans with
Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008 (“ADAAA” Pub. L. No. 11®@25, § 4(a), 122 Stat. 3553
(2008). Before the ADAAA, a plaintiff making a “ragded as” claim was required to show he was
regarded as having an impairment tha#bstantially limited a major life activitiRoss v. Campbell
Soup Cq.237 F.3d 701, 709 (6th Cir. 2001) (“It is not enough that the employer regarded that
individual as somehow disabled; rather, the pitiimust show that the employer regarded the
individual as disabled within the meaningtioé ADA.”) (quotation omitted). Because the events
at issue in this case occurred after January 1, 2009, the Court applies the ADX&Zel v.
Whirlpool Corp, No. 10-3629, 2012 WL 1449683, at *8 (6th Cir. April 27, 2012) (“[W]ith regard
to events occurring before January 1, 2009, the ADAegith regard to events occurring in and
after 2009, the amended version of the ADA— i.e., the ADAAA—applies.”).
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p. 6). Specifically, the City argues it only regar@daintiff as incapable of performing the functions
of a police officer, and did not regard Plainsftondition as substantially limiting any major life
activity (id. at 4-6). In support of thisrgument, the City citdspps v. City of Pine Lawi353 F.3d
588 (8th Cir. 2003) an8heehan v. City of Gloucest821 F.3d 21 (1st Cir. 2003). Both of these
cases involved municipalities terminating police offsgand in both cases the courts held the cities
did not regard plaintiffs as disabled because théyot regard them as being substantially limited
in any major life activityEpps 353 F.3d at 598heehan321 F.3d at 26. Instead, the cities merely
regarded the officers as unable to perform theedwf a police officer, which was insufficient to
show they regarded plaintiffs as being sultsadip limited in the majolife activity of working.
Epps 353 F.3d at 59Z%heehan321 F.3d at 26.

This argument would have been convincing, amtgges determinative, tifie relevant events
in this case occurred before January 1, 2009. Mewydecause the events occurred after January
1, 2009, the ADAAA applies to the City’s condudturzel v. Whirlpool CorpNo. 10-3629, 2012
WL 1449683, at *8 (6th Cir. April 27, 2012) (“[W]ittegard to events occurring before January 1,
2009, the ADA applies; with regard to eventsarring in and after 2009, the amended version of
the ADA— i.e., the ADAAA—applies.”). To be lde under the “regarded as” prong as amended
by the ADAAA, a defendant need not regard an individual as substantially limited in a major life
activity. 42 U.S.C. § 12102(3)(A). plaintiff must only show thadte was “subjected to an action
prohibited under [the ADA] because of an actoalperceived physical or mental impairment
whether or not the impairment limits a major life activitid”; Wurzel v. Whirlpool Corp.No.
3:09CVv498, 2010 WL 1495197 (N.D. Ohio April 14, 2018¥fd, 2012 WL 1449683 (6th Cir.

2012). Therefore, if a reasonable jury could heaecluded the City terminated Plaintiff because



of an actual or perceived physical or mental impairment—in this case, PTSD-then this ground is
insufficient to grant the City’s motion.

A reasonable jury could have concluded, bas@the evidence submitted at trial, the City
terminated Plaintiff because of the reports submitted to CPD management regarding Plaintiff's
PTSD. Infact, in its motion fgudgment as a matter of law, the City admits Plaintiff’'s termination
was based on Chief Cooper’s beligtPlaintiff’'s PTSD disqualified him to perform the essential
functions of a police officer (Court File No.75,8).(“Dr. Brookshire provided a medical report to
Chief Cooper that informed the Chief thablbdck was not fit for duty in May 2009 and Chief
Cooper informed Hoback that he could not tamre as a police officer due to that medical
determination.”); (Court File No. 75-2, Cooper tept 8) (“I terminated Mickel Hoback, after he
exhausted all of his leave and personal time, bais¢lde fact that he waeemed to be unfit by Dr.
Brookshire and not free of any aalfilmental disorders.”). Based on the evidence submitted at trial,
a reasonable jury could conclude the City regaRladtiff as disabled, and terminated him on the
basis of an actual or perceived mental impairment. The City’s argument as to that issue fails.

2. Qualified Individual

The more difficult question is whether Plafhis a qualified individual who could perform
the essential functions of the job. Where, as feeptintiff brings a “regarded as” claim, he must
show he is a qualified individual without thenedit of any reasonable accommodation; that is, he
must show he can perform the essential functodiise job as it is nanally performed. 42 U.S.C.

8§ 12201(h)Wurze| 2012 WL 1449683, at *9 n.13 (“As a plaiftoringing a ‘regarded as’ claim,
[plaintiff] would not be entitled to the benefif a reasonable accommodation. Thus, the question

of his qualification must be decided withaegard to any potential accommodation.”) (citation



omitted). The ADA limits its scope of protection and excludes otherwise qualified individuals who
pose “a ‘direct threat’ to the health or safetyotfiers that cannot be eliminated by a reasonable
accommodation.Holiday v. City of Chattanoog206 F.3d 637, 647 n.4 (6th Cir. 2000) (citing 42
U.S.C.8812111(3),12113(b)). A plaintiffin a “redad as” claim is also not entitled to reasonable
accommodation in the direct threat determinatibinrze) 2012 WL 1449683, at *9 n.13.

The City’s argument necessarily blends the assdéanctions and direct threat analyses, and
indeed in this case these analyses go hand-in-hand. In fact, some courts have considered the burden
to be on plaintiff in cases where the essentialtions of the job implicate the safety of otheBee
Equal Employment Opp. Comm’n v. Amego,, [ht0 F.3d 135 (1st Cir. 199{oncluding “it is the
plaintiff's burden to show that he or she gaerform the essential functions of the job, and is
therefore ‘qualified.”). Others treat it as a defense with the burden on the defeBSeakgual
Employment Opp. Comm’n v. Wal-Mart Stores,,1A4€7 F.3d 561 (8th Cir. 200 Hlowever, the
Sixth Circuit has yet to rule on this mattéfurze] 2012 WL 1449683, at *9 n.14 (citing conflicting
cases in other circuits but declining to decideifisue). Because the Sixth Circuit has referred to
the direct threat inquiry as a “defenseéifamlin v. Charter Tp. of Flintl65 F.3d 426, 431 (6th
Cir.1999), the Court treats it as such, as have other district courts in the Sixth Geeutiqual
Employment Opp. Comm’n. Santa Fe Ry. C0621 F.Supp.2d 587 (W.D. Tenn. 2008 ual
Employment Opp. Comm’n v. Overnite Transp, 8o0. 2:02CV591, 2006 WR594479 (S.D. Ohio.
July 5, 2006). The Court, then, will consider tesemntial functions analysis and the direct threat
defense separately.

a. Essential Functions

In support of its argument regarding the eBakfunctions of the pason, the City cites two
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cases in which courts concludas a matter of law a police afér was incapable of performing
various essential functions and one similar cegarding a firefightgiCourt File No. 75, pp. 11-12)
(citing Simon v. St. Louis County, Missqui85 F.2d 1082 (8th Cir. 1984) (police officefhamp
v. City of Baltimore Counfy884 F.Supp. 991 (D. Md. 1995) (police officeBurch v. City of
Nagodochesl74 F.3d 615 (5th Cir 1999) (firefighter)However, each of these cases dealt with
a plaintiff who suffered a physical limitation. Riaff here is only incapable of performing the
essential functions of his job to the extent hisesvisors believed he posed a danger to himself and
others while employed. For the purposes ofittagion, the Court will assume the jury concluded
the essential functions of the position of poliéicer were those descriddy Chief Cooper in his
testimony (Court File No. 75-2, Cooper Test., pady relied on by the City in its motion (Court
File No. 75, p. 12):

Police officers are individuals that are gt working a 9:00-to-5:00 job. They're

people that are distinguished by a uniform. They wear a badge and a gun. They

expose themselves to danger. They cassaalt weapons. They have to be able to

make split-second decisions, life-and-death decisions that may take someone's life

or take someone's freedom away. Thaye to be of sound mind, clear-thinking,

able-bodied people in good physical healtd enental health. And they have to be

able to control themselves in very, very high situations at some times without losing

control themselves, being able to maintain calmness and to restore calm and peace

in these situations. And they have to be able, counted on, relied upon by myself and

the citizens that they serve, to use dhly amount of force necessary when dealing

with situations and citizens that's deenmestessary to control that situation, up to

and including taking someone’s life.

In support of its argument Plaintiff was not ffied to perform the essential functions of
the position, the City notes Plaintiff's diagmosvith severe PTSD by the VA, involuntary
commitment by a VA psychiatrist, Plaintiff's mieation, and Plaintiff’'s VA Counselor’'s notes

detailing Plaintiff's descriptionsf various violent thoughts and acfEhe evidence the City relies

on was presented at trial and the jury was in &ipado consider it with the testimony of Plaintiff
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himself and Chief Cooper who terminated PlaintNfost notably, on direct examination, Plaintiff
detailed his version of multiple events mentioireGounselor Bearden’s notes and relied on by Dr.
Brookshire in his report, which convinced CHixfoper to terminate Plaintiff’'s employment (Court
File No. 70, Hoback Test., pp42-52). Included in Plaintiff's testimony was discussion of
embellishments he made to Counselor Beardender to receive larger benefits from the Mé (

at pp. 47-49). He also noted the only side e$f&cm his medication were headaches and nausea.
Further, Plaintiff detailed some of his experiences in the militdryaf pp. 11-16), on which a
reasonable jury could rely to conclude he was capable of withstanding the types of stresses Chief
Cooper acknowledged in his essential functiorssusision. Finally, as the City concedes in its
motion for judgment as a matter of law, “three dif& experts with the same psychological licenses
in the State of Tennessee have offered confliabipigions at trial regarding the severity of the
mental condition of Officer Hoback,” including damvho thought Plaintiff was fit to perform the
functions of a police officer even consiog his condition (Court File No. 75, p. 3-4).

The events as relayed to Counselor Bearden would concern any supervisor, particularly a
supervisor of a police officer. But the question presented to the jury was whether Plaintiff could
perform the essential functiookthe position. 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8) reasonable jury could have
heard all the evidence and placed significanighteon Plaintiff's explanation of Counselor
Bearden’s notes, discounted his embellishmeritstdA Counselor, weighed the credibility of the
testifying mental health professionals, and concluded the evidence presented was sufficient to show

Plaintiff could perform the essential functions of the position.

b. Direct Threat

12



The City argues Plaintiff was a “direct thre&t’ the health and safety of others in his
workplace (Court File No. 75, p. 10). In a direct threat defense, a defendant must show its
determination the plaintiff posed a direct threas yweemised on “an individualized inquiry into the
individual’'s actual medical condition, and the impact, if any, the condition might have on that
individual’s ability to perform the job in questionWurze] 2012 WL 1449683, at *10 (quoting
Holiday, 206 F.3d at 643). “This assessment shall be based on a reasonable medical judgment that
relies on the most current medical knowledge @nadi the best available objective evidence.” 29
C.F.R. 8 1630.2(r). The decision of the employer or its medical professionals who made the
decision must also be “objective[ly] reason@Blim light of available medical evidencalurze)

2012 WL 1449683, at *10 (citinBragdon v. Abbott524 U.S. 624, 650 (1998)).

After determining the sufficiency of an emplo\setermination procedures, the next step is
determining whether the plaintiff “meets thtandard for posing a direct threa?Wurze) 2012 WL
1449683, at *14 (“Having concluded tHdefendants] engaged in a saféint process, and that the
conclusions it reached were objectively reasanbbked upon [plaintiff's] medical condition, the
remaining question is whether these conclusitsig]plaintiff’'s] condition meet the standard for
posing a direct threat.”). This analysis is embin a consideration ébur factors provided by 29
C.F.R. 8 1620.29(r): “(i) [T]he duration of the rigkgsed by plaintiff], (ii) the nature and severity
of the potential harm, (iii) the likelihood that tpetential harm will occur, and (iv) the imminence
of the potential harm.’ld. at *9. The risk must be significant;¢annot be speculative or remote.

Id.
First, the City argues its procedures werecaate (Court File No. 75, pp. 14-15). It points

to the fitness determination performed by Dro&kshire (Court File NoZ5-4, Def. Ex. 2), which
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was based on the notes taken by VA CounsB&arden and Dr. Brookshire’s own in-person
evaluation (Court File No. 75-5, Plaintiff Ex. 18).dlso points to Plaintiff's testimony at trial
admitting to the embellishments and falsehoodelaged to Counselor Bearden (Court File No. 75-
1, Hoback Test.). In these sources, the City highlights Plaintiff's diagnosis with severe PTSD by
the VA and involuntary commitment by a VA psyatiist (Court File No. 75, p. 3). It also
emphasizes Plaintiff's VA Counselor's notes detgilPlaintiff’'s descriptions of various violent
thoughts and acts (Court File No 75-1, p. 1) (“[Ri&] described nightmares, intrusive thoughts,
and loss of control of his anger. He stated areis® occasions he has ‘choked’ or hit people he is
interacting with when he has gotten mad (includeilpw police officers . ..).”) The City argues,
considering Plaintiff's claims to his VA Counsekvout violent episodes, a judgment in his favor
puts the City in the impossible position of choosing between retaining high-risk employees and
subjecting itself to possible § 198&ims, or dismissing high-risk employees and subjecting itself
to ADA claims (Court File No. 75, p. 10).

Although the Court is sensitive to the Citgldemma, the Court may not “set aside the
verdict [even if] it believes [] anoth@utcome is more justified.Denhof,494 F.3d at 543. There
was sufficient evidence for a reasonable juryaiatude the City’s evaluation of Plaintiff was not
based on the best objective medical evidence. Btange, prior to firing Plaintiff, Chief Cooper
was aware of a determination by Dr. McDarfieding Plaintiff fit for duty, although he also
recommended certain actions on the part of the police department (Court File No. 75-2, Cooper
Test., p. 16). When asked if that decision aéfddtis opinion regarding Plaintiff's qualification,

Chief Cooper responded, “Absolutely not. He was either fit for duty or not fit for duty. And if he was
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only fit for duty based on a number of conditions, then that was not fit for ddty.” (

A reasonable jury could have concluded McDaniel’s findings reflected poorly on the
soundness of Dr. Brookshire’s conclusions and shisave been considered by Chief Cooper before
termination. Further, the jury could have emphasized the corroborating report by Dr. Walker as
more evidence that Dr. Brookshire’s report was insufficient under the ADA. For example, Dr.
Brookshire failed to consider Plaintiff's expldiwes for events from Counselor Bearden’s notes
(Court File No. 70, Hoback Test., p. £2yhereas the other two doctors either discounted the events
for lack of corroborating information (Court Fiko. 25-4, McDaniel Report, p. 13), or heavily
considered those explanations (Court File Re6, Walker Report, p. 5-6). Dr. Brookshire also
failed to consider the circumstances of Pl#istcommitment (Court File No. 75-4, Def. Ex. 2, p.

5), including that it occurred under some controversy and he was immediately discharged the

following day. Drs. Walker anblicDaniel both discounted the commitment after investigating the

2 Because Plaintiff proceeded on a “regardgttheory, Chief Cooper was correct that he
was not required to provide any accommodations recommended by Dr. McDaniel. However, a
reasonable jury could have concluded Dr. Mcebsidetermination cast doubt on the reliability of
Dr. Brookshire’s report, and therefore Chief Cepgid not rely on the best available medical
evidence.

¥ Hoback: “Those [topics discussed with Brookshire] would be—More or less we covered
some things in [Counselor Bearden’s] notesinklwe covered an incident—He asked me a couple
of instances that were in the notes. One of them was, | guess, about a lawyer that | had got in an
argument with. Another one was another incident that was in there. He asked me more or less about
Mike Bearden’s notes. And as | Wito explain them to him, hedhi't want to hear anything. He said
| was minimizing everything in the notes.”

Attorney: “Did you ask him anything about verifying with your fellow workers information?”

Hoback: “There was an incident which will come up where it says | choked or punched fellow
officers. | advised him what had happened withame this other officer, ‘That’s not actually what
happened.’ | said, ‘You can call him and checkadfe said, ‘I'm sure he would lie for you. He’s
your buddy.”

15



circumstances surrounding it (Court File No. 2%4¢Daniel Report, pp. 12-13); (Court File No.
75-6, Walker Report, p. 25).

Based on these discrepancies, a reasonable jury could have considered Dr. Brookshire’s
report to lack the type of individualized inquiry or reasonable medical judgment required by the
ADA. See Holiday v. City of Chattanoqd206 F.3d 637 (6th Cir. 200(holding a material issue
of fact existed where the city relied on ontye doctor’s report and it lacked a sufficient
individualized inquiry or basis in objective scientific and medical evidence). The jury could have
determined Chief Cooper’s nearly sole relianc®orBrookshire’s report, and failure to consider
Dr. McDaniel's conclusions, to indicate his determination was not based on “the best available
objective evidence.See Justice v. Cron@ork and Seal Cp527 F.3d 1080 (10th Cir. 2008)
(finding a material issue of fact existed regagda “direct threat” defense in part because the
employer relied on one medical opinion and ignored subsequent conflicting opisieastso
Wurze| 2012 WL 1449683, at *16 (granting summary judgment for defendant in part because a jury
could not find there was contrary medical evidesmiere two doctors reached the same conclusion).

Second, the jury could have determined Pldiws not a direct threat under the four-factor
test provided by C.F.R. § 1620.29(vYurze| 2012 WL 1449683, at *14. First, the jury could have
determined duration of the risk was too short, or even nonexistent, to pose a significant threat of
harm given the testimony of Drs. McDaniel and Walker agreeing Plaintiff was relatively
asymptomatic. Two doctors providing testimony for the jury, Dr. McDaniel and Dr. Walker,
concluded Plaintiff was fit for duyt Dr. Walker concluded Plaiff’'s PTSD was in remission and
he was not currently a threat to himself or asi€ourt File No. 75-6, Wiker Report, p. 25). Dr.

McDaniel similarly concluded Plaintiff was nexperiencing significant symptoms (Court File No.
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25-4, McDaniel Report, p. 15). Further, the g episodes detailed in Dr. Brookshire’s report
were uncorroborated and Plaintiff testified extealy and provided explanations for their presence
in Counselor Bearden’s notes. The jury could have concluded Plaintiff had performed his duties
without significant incident and relied on thatetenination to find he did not pose a significant
threat of harm in the future. Second, the jury could have concluded the nature and severity of the
potential harm was low, as the jury could havesidered Plaintiff's explanations of his symptoms
and Drs. McDaniel and Walker’s analyses moeelisle than Dr. Brookshire’s. Third, the jury could
have similarly concluded the likelihood the potelrtiarm will occur was low after considering the
testimony of the doctors and Plaintiff. Finally, the jury could have found the potential harm lacked
imminence by relying on testimony stating Plaintiff’'s symptoms had dissipated and his condition
was in remission (Court File No. 75-6, Walker Report, p. 25).

The City primarily relies oBorgialli v. Thunder Basin Coal Ca235 F.3d 1284 (10th Cir.
2000) andBurroughs v. City of Springfield63 F.3d 505 (8th Cir. 1998), to argue Plaintiff posed
a direct threat and thus wast a qualified individual. [Borgialli, the plaintiff was a “blaster” for
a mining company who began suffegifrom dizziness, blurred vision, and nausea. The plaintiff
was given a restricted medical release such that he should not be permitted to operate heavy
machinery. However, the mine allowed plaintdf return to work. Subsequently, plaintiff's
supervisor, with whom he had a contentious relationship, gave him a negative performance
evaluation. Plaintiff then admitiehoughts of suicide to a former supervisor and the mine’s nurse.
He saw a counselor who did notdicate plaintiff could return tevork. Plaintiff later saw a
psychiatrist who found he could redfely perform the work as a bles Of particular note to the

City in this case, the plaintiff iBorgialli then sought evaluation from another psychiatrist who
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determined he was capable of performing his duties but not capable of managing a relationship with
his supervisor. After the mine requested thenpifisee another evaluat, plaintiff refused and

the mine would not allow him totan to work. The Tenth Circuit held plaintiff in this case was

a direct threat and that “no reasonable jurylddault the Mine for its decision to preclude
Plaintiff's return to workuntil it received assurance from a doctor that Mr. Borgialti longer

posed a safety riskld. at 1294 (emphasis added).

In Burroughs the plaintiff was a diabetic police redrwho, while serving as a recruit, had
two diabetic hypoglycemic episodes during whiclibeeame disoriented and could not perform his
duties. An evaluating physician concluded he could be danger to the public if another episode
occurred, and that the episodes could be avoidee laintiff would more appropriately monitor
his diet. Although the Eighth Circuit determinee thlaintiff was not terminated because of his
disability, it also discussed the direct threat deée The plaintiff argued the doctor’s opinion was
speculative but the court noted the doctor’s apinelied on two undisputed episodes that created
a risk “of an armed patrol officer being ok to function in an emergency situatioBrirroughs
163 F.3d at 508. Accordingly, the cobeld “[t}he City’s decision to remove [plaintiff] from duty
was appropriately based on objective evidence and reasonable medical judigment.”

The case atissue is readily distinguishable fBamgialli and fromBurroughs InBorgialli,
the Tenth Circuit relied on the determination plaintiff could not manage a relationship with his
supervisor and on plaintiff's refusal to undergotner medical evaluation. Here, Plaintiff not only
consented to a second medical opinion but souglitchat well. Both of the opinions subsequent
to Dr. Brookshire’s found Plaintifitffor duty. Unlike the plaintiff irBorgialli, any caveats in the

doctors’ reports were relevant to continuedicseling and alcohol sning, not ta ability to

18



engage with supervisors or any similar concerns that would encumber Plaintiff's on-the-job
performance. Where the Tenthrcuit believed no reasonable jury could fault the mine until it
received a favorable opinion by a doctor, the junglweuld rely on Dr. McDaiel’s opinion to fault

the City in its termination of Plaintiff. Addanally, it could consider Dr. Walker’s opinion further
evidence the City’s determination Plaintiff posed a direct threat was incorrect.

Similarly, the determination to terminate the plaintiffBarroughsarose from a medical
report based onncontrovertecepisodes. Here, the episodes on which Dr. Brookshire’s report
primarily focused were disputed, and evidence wasi@ed to the effect they either did not occur
or Dr. Brookshire’s interpretation of them was imeat. Plaintiff in this case also provided two
evaluations by other doctors concluding the episodes at issue either did not occur, or discounting
their importance given the lack of corrobooatand surrounding circumstances. A reasonable jury
could conclude the disputed episodes in this dakeot occur and Plairititherefore did not pose
a direct threat.

Because the evidence was sufficient for aaeable jury to conclude Plaintiff was a
gualified individual capable of performing the essdrunctions of a police officer and did not pose
a direct threat to himself or othershis workplace, the City’s motion must BENIED. Because
the Court finds there was sufficient evidence &i@n the jury’s verdict under the ADA, discussion
of Plaintiff’'s Rehabilitation Act claim is unnecessary.

B. Damages

The jury awarded Plaintiff $130,000 iadk pay, $300,000 in front pay, and $250,000 for
emotional distress for a total avd of $680,000 (Court File No. 63Jhe City argues the damages

awarded by the jury are excessive and haveewn balculated correctly (Court File No. 75, p. 20).

19



The City seeks a new trial to recalculate damages, or in the alternative, remittitur.

“New trials are not to be granted on the groutindd the verdict was against the weight of
the evidence ‘unless that verdict was unreasonalBarhes v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp.
201 F.3d 815, 820-21 (6th Cir. 2000) (quotithgmes 78 F.3d at 1047). “A verdict is not excessive
unless it exceeds ‘the maximum that a jury could reasonably find to be compensatory for the
plaintiff's loss.” Skalka v. Fernald Envtl. Restoration Mgmt. Coff7.8 F.3d 414, 424-25 (6th Cir.
1999) (quotingRoush v. KFC Nat'l Mgmt. Col10 F.3d 392, 397 (6th Cir. 1993)). “An award must
stand unless it is (1) beyond the range supportableroof; or (2) so excessive as to shock the
conscience; or (3) the result of a mistakéregory v. Shelby County, Tennes22€ F.3d 433, 443
(6th Cir. 2000) (citingBickel v. Korean Air Lines Co., Ltd®6 F.3d 151, 156 (6th Cir. 1996)).

Short of ordering a new trial, a court may re€la jury award pursuant to Rule 59(e) if the
award “clearly exceeds” the maximum amountrg jeasonably could have found was necessary
to compensate the prevailing party for its loS&yton v. Ohio Department of Youth Servi@86
F.3d 669, 679 (6th Cir. 200(ee also Jackson v. City of Cookeyiié F.3d 1354, 1359 (6th Cir.
1994). The court may reduce the award onlyig i{1) beyond the range supportable by proof, (2)
S0 excessive as to shock the consmenr (3) the result of mistakeSlayton 206 F.3d at 67%ee
also Farber v. Massillon Bd. of E917 F.2d 1391, 1395 (6th Cir. 1990) (holding remittur is
appropriate if the award resuftem passion, bias, or prejudic&®athey v. Johns-Manville Sales
Corp, 776 F.2d 1565, 1572 (6th Cir. 1986) (holding remittur is appropriate only if the award is
“shocking or contrary to all reason”). Remittiigrnot appropriate simply because an award is
“extremely generous”; rather, it is allowed onlyevhan award is “grossly disproportionate” to the

adduced evidenceKoster v. Trans World Airlines, Incl81 F.3d 24, 34 (1st Cir.199@jied in
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Slayton 206 F.3d at 679-80. In making its determination, the court must review the evidence in a
light most favorable to the prevailing partyackson31 F.3d at 1359 (citations omitted).
1. Back Pay

The City argues the jury’s award of $130,00@xzessive because (1) Plaintiff did not
mitigate his damages, (2) the award does notitdkeaccount some minor income Plaintiff made
between his termination and trial, and (3) the award is based on a higher salary than the evidence
presented at trial showed.

a. Mitigation

The burden to demonstrate failure to mitigate is on the defendant, who must show
substantially equivalent positions were available and the plaintiff did not use reasonable diligence
to seek them outTaylor v. Invacare Corp64 F. App’x 516, 523 (6th €i2003). A substantially
equivalent position affords the terminated emp®yvirtually identical promotional opportunities,
compensation, job responsibilities, working conditions, and staResimas v. Michigan Dept. of
Health 714 F.2d 614, 624 (6th Cit983). Reasonable diligence is not an onerous burden and is
evaluated in “light of the individual characteristics of the claimant and the job mddket.”

Here, the City did not meet its burden to shsmbstantially equivalent positions existed or
Plaintiff failed to exercise reasonable diligencéotmte one. The City points to evidence Plaintiff
was asked to highlight five positiohe would be interested irkiag other than police officer once
it was clear the City would be terminating hi@f the five positions Platiff noted, only two were
funded, and one of those two did hetin for a year. The fiftpportunity, which apparently was
the only viable one, was a position answering pho&asen the different responsibilities, status,

and working conditions, the Court cannot say this position was “substantially equivalent” to the
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position of police officer. Further, Plaintiffrovided evidence heogght full time employment,
including at five different police department(€t File No. 70, Hobackest., pp. 60-61), and was
currently working part time for Graysville PoliBepartment (Court File No. 71, Hoback Test., pp.
50-51). On the evidence presented, the City daitemeet its burden to prove Plaintiff did not
mitigate his damages.
b. Other Income

The City argues the backpay award shouldiseounted by the earnings he received from
his part time job at Graysville Police Departmant his veterans benefits. A backpay award
“should completely redress the economic injury the claimant has suffered as a result of
discrimination.” Rasimas 714 F.2d at 627. Generally, collateral source benefits should not be
deducted from an award of back payamlin v. Charter Tp. of Flintl65 F.3d 426, 432 (6th Cir.
1999) (holding pension benefits were a colldtecairce and should notVebeen deducted from
an award of back pay under the ADA) he collateral source rule sssubstantive rule of law that
bars a tortfeasor from reducing damages oweddaintiff by the amount atcovery the plaintiff
receives from sources that ardlaieral to the tortfeasor.ld. at 433. “Applying the collateral
source rule in the employment discrimination context prevents the discriminatory employer from
avoiding liability and experiencing a windfall, and also promotes the deterrence functions of
discrimination statutes.1d. at 434 (applying the collateral source rule to the ADA).

Accordingly, the Court will not reduce the bgmky award by the amount Plaintiff received
in veterans benefits, because the source okthads is collateral to the City, deducting them
would provide the City a windfall, and—as Plaintiff would have received the benefits

anyway—deducting them would not completely redrihe injury Plaintiff experienced as a result
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of his termination.

However, Plaintiff’'s award shodihave been offset by the wadee earned in the two years
between his termination and trial. Testimony bgififf suggests he made $780 as of the trial in
2011 and between $7,000 and $8,000 in 2010 (Court File No. 70, Hoback Test., pp. 62, 64-65).
There was also some discussiofrial of other pay Plaintiff receivk at a rate of twenty dollars a
night plus some in-kind income, for an occasl@agurity guard position. However this was never
more clearly established at trial. Accordinglye Court will construe #hambiguity against the
discriminating employeRasimas714 F.2d at 628 (“[A]mbiguity in what the claimant would have
received but for the discrimination should be hesd against the discriminating employer.”), and
assume Plaintiff's award should take into@auat $7,780 of wages earned between termination and
trial.

c. Proper Salary

The City argues the jury apparently basedutard on total salary and benefit compensation
package of $60,000 as testified to by Douglas Ketkngrds specialist for the City of Chattanooga.
Kelley testified Plaintiff's annual pay was $39,43ft in the previous year Plaintiff earned
$43,050.98 because he worked overtime (CourtNrae72, Kelley Test., pp. 14-15, 18). Kelley
estimated, accounting for all Plaintiff's beitgf his total compensation was around $60,000. The
City disputes the use of the otiare salary as a basis for determining back pay, and argues the total

compensation package should hagerb$55,000 (Court File No. 75, p. 22 n.13)e jury awarded

* The Court notes the Citytecrease of $5,000 is based on nothing specific in the record,
but appears to be simply a rounding up froen#B,614.98 difference between Plaintiff's base salary
and his salary with overtime. The Court wilbt replace the jury’s judgment with an arbitrary
figure.
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Plaintiff $130,000 for the time between termination on July 21, 2009, and the trial, which ended
September 14, 2009. Given the span of time, almost twenty-six months, the jury must have
computed their award on the basis of the $60,000 a year figure.

The Court notes the evidence at trial is imprecise in regard snbant of pay Plaintiff
would have been entitled to had the City not teated his employment and to the amount in wages
Plaintiff earned between termination and trial.wéweer, the court is only to grant remittitur where
“after reviewing all evidence in light most favorable to the awardeec¢dnginced the verdict is
clearly excessive.Farber, 917 F.2d at 1395. Moreover, where “there is any credible evidence to
support a verdict, it should not be set asidieg.”"Here, although the figures produced at trial were
merely rough estimates, the Court cannot say thdictas clearly excessive. There was credible
evidence presented—in the form of Kelley’s testimony—that had Plaintiff worked the twenty-six
months between termination and trial he would have earned $60,000 a year. Further, overtime is
often included backpay computatiofgeeNoosley v. Avco Cor®44 F.2d 313, 319 (6th Cir 1991)
(affirming an award of backpay that included the average overtime worked by plant employees);
Stevens v. Tennessee Valley Authp86b F.2d 1036 (6th Cir. 1986) (affirming a district court
computation of backpay that included overtioug discounted the average overtime hours worked
based on how much the plaintiff typically workedfor which he was available). However, the
award should have been reduced by the apmprately $7,780 earned by Riéiff during that time

period. Because Plaintiff worked one week shywsnty-six months, the Court will also remit

®> Although the Court cannot be sure, it asssithe jury divided the $60,000 figure by twelve
and then multiplied the resulting $5,000 figure by twenty six to reach the award of $130,000.
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$1,250 from the award of backpt account for that weekAccordingly, theCourt will remit the
$130,000 figure to $120,970. It should be noted Bfamay either excepthe remittitu or seek
a new trial, but if he accepts the remittie cannot appeal the Court’s decisibttKenna v.
Edgell 617 F.3d 432, 446 (6th Cir. 2010).

Accordingly, the Court wilDENY the City’s motion for a new trial on back pay, and
GRANT IN PART AND DENY IN PARTY the City’s motion to remit the back pay award of
$130,000.

2. Front Pay

The City makes two arguments in favor of a new trial or remittitur of the jury’s award of
front pay: (1) the calculation is excessive and @gatge court had entered an order of reinstatement,
providing a windfall for Plaintiff.

a. Calculation of award

The City argues the jury’s akd of $300,000 front pay is excassand the jury verdict form
lacks any indication such as a cut-off date, a calculation of present value, and discount for future
employment or other indications for how the jury determined its award.

The City does not refute the Court’s deteration reinstatement, the preferred remedy in
termination cases, was inappropriate in this case nor does it refute the Court’s decision to submit the
issue of front pay to the juryRather, from the City’s motioiit, only objects to the amount of the
award and the lack of explicit indications in how jary determined its award. However, the Court

charged the jury on the factors outlined by the Sixth Circudash v. KFC Nat’'l Mgmt Cp10

® Assuming the jury based its award ongufee of $5,000 a month, one out of four weeks
would be worth $1,250.
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F.3d 392 (6th Cir. 1993) arfshore v. Federal Express Carfg77 F.2d 1155 (6th Cir. 1985). As
long as “the finder of fact has considered #h&drs necessary to set the amount of the award,” it
will be upheld.Suggs v. ServiceMaster Educ. Food Mgii.F.3d 1228, 1235 (6th Cir. 1996¢e
Wells v. New Cherokee Coyp8 F.3d 233, 238-39 (6th Cir. 1995) (“[T]he court specifically
instructed the jury on what factors to consider in setting the amount of the award.”)

Front pay awards may be reduced if they speculative or if they exceed the amount a
reasonable jury could find to be compensatétged v. National Linen Servijdéo. 97-5545, 1999
WL 407463, at *6 (6th Cir. June 2, 1999). Considgevidence presented at trial noting Plaintiff's
compensation was $60,000 a yeas, f@latively young age, and hisntinued difficulty finding
comparable, full-time employment, the Court cannot say the jury’s award was unreas&eable.
Pollard v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours, Ind12 F.3d 657, 666 (6th Cir. 2005) (affirming a grant of
over one million dollars in front pay based on the possibility the employee would have worked until
age sixty-five);Reed 1999 WL 407463finding an award for past and future wages of $185,000
reasonable where the jury heard evidence the plaintiff wanted to continue employment at the
location until his retirement)Cooley v. Carmike Cinemas, In@5 F.3d 1325 (6th Cir. 1994)
(affirming a verdict of $249,741 indnt pay for a fifty-three yeadd who had persistently sought
work and until settling for a lower paying position).

b. City Council Proceedings

The City also challenges the front pay award on the grounds the Hamilton County Chancery
Court has ordered Plaintiff reinstated. Howe\after the City filel the instant motion, the
Tennessee Court of Appeals vacated the GdrgnCourt’'s judgment and remanded to the

Chattanooga City Council with instructions to consider Plaintiff's casscordance with a Consent
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Order entered by the Western District of Tennesbidack v. City of Chattanooghlo. 09-0965,
2012 WL 2974762 (Tenn. Ct. App. July 20, 2012).
The City citesSuggs v. ServiceMaster Educ. Food Mgit#2.F.3d 1228 (6th Cir. 1996) for
the proposition front pay and reinstatement are “alternative rather than cumulative” awards and
courts should ensure “employees who suffer discriminatory discharge be made whole but not receive
windfalls.” However Suggdealt with front pay, characterizég the district court as “additional
backpay,” awarded in addition to an order of seatement to compensate the plaintiff for the time
between the conclusion of the trial and “tieetive date of the offer of reinstatement’at 1231.
In other wordsSuggsdealt with an order of front pay and reinstatement from the same court.
Here, on the other hand, the City asks the Court not to award front pay to Plaintiff in case
a City Council determination makes the awardlidagive. Although the City did not argue the
point, and its motion fails to explicitly seek aspecific relief from theossibility of duplicative
awards, the Court determine it seeks aligirion the issue of front pay pursuanCmorado River
Water Conservation District v. United Statd&4 U.S. 800 (1976).
Colorado Riverrecognized federal courts have a “virtually unflagging obligation . . . to
exercise the jurisdiction given them,” but nosdabtention may be appropriate where deference to
a parallel state proceeding would promote §@]judicial administration, giving regard to
conservation of judicial resources atamprehensive disposition of litigationd. at 817. The

Court did note, however, “the circumstances permitting the dismissal of a federal suit due to the

” Although abstention undeBurford v. Sun Oil Compan$19 U.S. 315, 63 S.Ct. 1098, 87
L.Ed. 1424 (1943) also seems apmiate at first blush, the Sixth Circuit has made cl&arford
abstention does not extend to actions seeking monetary rdleilin v. KalmNo. 11-1261, 2012
WL 3241656, at *5 (6th Cir. August 9, 2012) (citiGgay v. Bush628 F.3d 779 (6th Cir. 2010).
Accordingly, the Court findBurford abstention inappropriate in this case.
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presence of a concurrent state proceedingréasons of wise judicial administration are
considerably more limited than circumstances appropriate for [other theories of] abstéshtetn.”
818.

A court will consider a number of factors to determine wheflwborado Riverabstention
is appropriate: “(1) whether the state court erféderal court has assumed jurisdiction over the res
or property; (2) which forum is more convenienttie parties; (3) whether abstention would avoid
piecemeal litigation; (4) which court obtained juridto first; and (5) whether federal law or state
law provides the basis fordhdecision on the merits.”Devlin v. Kalm No. 11-1261, 2012 WL
3241656, at *5 (6th Cir. August 9, 2012) . “Under Catip River, ‘[n]o one factor is necessarily
determinative,” and the court must undertake ‘@ftdbalancing of the important factors as they
apply in a given case, with the balance heaviligived in favor of the exercise of jurisdiction.”
Id.(quoting Moses H. Cone Mem'l. Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Gat0 U.S. 1, 15 (1983)).

Applying the factors to this case, withetlbalance weighed in favor of exercising
jurisdiction, the Court does not find abstention appiate. “The first two factors—assumption of
jurisdiction over property and convenienagkethe forum-are inapplicable.’Devlin, 2012 WL
324156, at *5. The third factor, avoiding pieceml@ajation, is not served by abstention here
because the City Council is determining Ridi's grievance on the basis of municipal
administrative code and cannot hear titeramlant federal claim at issue helie.(finding abstention
inappropriate where the federal action involved federal constitutional claims and the state action
involved state civil service rules). The fouféictor, sometimes called the “priority” rule, “should
not be measured exclusively by which complaing Wied first, but rather in terms of how much

progress has been made in the two actiohddses H. Cone Memorial Hosp. v. Mercury Const.
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Corp,, 460 U.S. 1, 21 (1983). Although the City Council appeal was initiated before the instant
action, that appeal has been remanded for refggavhereas this case has proceeded through a jury
verdict. The fourth factor, then, weighs agaaisstention. Finally, this case is based on the ADA,

a federal statute.

Because the factors weigh agai@storado Riverabstention, and the jury’s front pay award
is reasonable, the City’s motion seeking @& téal or remittitur on the front pay issueD&NIED.

3. Emotional Distress

Finally, the City argues the $250,000 awarddorotional distress should be set aside as
grossly excessive. Damages for emotional distneust be proven by “competent evidence” but this
does not require medical suppokoorer v. Baptist Memorial Health Care Sys{e&388 F.3d 469,

485 (6th Cir. 2005). A plaintifs burden can be carried by his own testimony and the circumstances
of the caseld. Juries are “accorded great discretiodetermining the amount of damage awards,
[but] damages must be provedeyimust not be speculativeRodgers v. Fisher Body Div., General
Motors Corp, 739 F.2d 1102, 1107 (6th Cir. 1984).

The Court cannot say the award in this case was grossly excessive and concludes it was
supported by evidence. Plaintiff testified he hasl his electricity disconnected such that his
daughter cannot stay at his house (Court FileM@pHoback Test., p. 63), could not afford medical
bills and was pursued by collections agerttsgt 67), he has been forced onto food stanghai
68), he has sold most of his belonginigls)( he was embarrassed by the publicity surrounding the
case and felt he was treated differently by members of the pithlat 68-69), and his medical
information and mental condition has been made puidliaf 69). Further, Dr. Walker’s report

noted Plaintiff was experiencing symptoms of “an adjustment disorder with anxious mood” as a
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result of “the loss of his job, financial worries)d concerns regarding an impending child custody
suit brought by his daughter’'s mother,” whibave caused him “understandable anxiety and
distress” (Court File No. 75-6, Walker Report, p..Zbhe evidence presented at trial was sufficient
for a jury to base an award of $250,000 for emotional distress.

The City bases its argument solelyRodgers v. Fisher Body Div., General Motors Cprp.
739 F.2d 1102, 1107 (6th Cir. 1984), where thelSGitcuit held a $300,000 award for emotional
distress was unsupported when “[v]irtually the oeddence of the mental stress which plaintiff
suffered as a result of his layoff svplaintiff’s brief testimony in this regard.” The plaintiff in that
case testified to a humiliating experience of seekialfare from the Department of Social Services
and having his car repossessed. Here, the cdstingyuishable because Plaintiff's testimony was
more in depth, it was corroborated by his &tk testimony, and it was corroborated by Dr.
Walker’s report. Further, cases subsequeRidgershave upheld similar verdicts in cases based
on similar evidenceSeeMoorer, 398 F.3d at 486 (affirming aaward of $250,000 where plaintiff,
his wife, and his doctor testifigdaintiff, as a result of his termination, was depressed, experienced
anxiety, and was having trouble in his marriagéley v. BTM Corp, 958 F.2d 746, 754 (6th Cir.
1992) (affirming an award of $350,000 proved bstitaony of anguish, embarrassment, marital
difficulties, weight loss, difficlty sleeping, and psychological tresnt by plaintiff and his wife).

Accordingly, the City’s motion a® emotional distress damage®ENIED and the Court
will not remit the award or grant a new trial.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court BENY the City’s motion for judgment as a matter

of law or a new trialGRANT IN PART AND DENY IN PART the City’'s motion to remit the
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jury’s award of back pay, am2ENY the City’s motion for a new trial for back pay, front pay, and
emotional distress, and for remittitur as to front pay and emotional distress (Court File No. 74).
An Order shall enter.
Is]

CURTIS L. COLLIER
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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